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A MOTHER’S WORST NIGHTMARE


“It’s okay,” Mary said, trying to reassure her. “Now you can get away from Marcus, too. You’ll be safe now.”


But Elizabeth knew that no one would be safe, not with the whole group of them going toe-to-toe with Marcus.


“What have you done?” Elizabeth said, dropping the cordless phone to the floor and frantically searching through her purse for her keys. “Oh my God, no!”


In her own way, Elizabeth had spent most of her life trying to protect her children from her husband. Although she’d always accepted his claim that the beatings he regularly dealt out were necessary discipline, she tried to intervene when he went too far, begging him to stop before he killed them. Marcus wouldn’t hand the children over to their mothers without a fight. She was the only one who could reason with him. God only knew what he would do without her there.
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To Sebhrenah, Lise, Illabelle, Jonathan, Aviv, Ethan, Sedona, Marshey, and Jeva, who I never had a chance to meet, but who will live in my heart forever.


To my parents, Chuck and Sandy, who have always provided me with unconditional love and support.


And to little Alysia, for making us all realize the true meaning of hope.





Wesson Family Members


(as of July 26, 2011)


Marcus Wesson, 64—b. August 22, 1946


Elizabeth Wesson, 51 (only legal wife)—b. July 31, 1959


Dorian Wesson, 36 (son)—b. December 12, 1974


Adrian Wesson, 35 (son)—b. November 6, 1975


Kiani Wesson, 34 (daughter)—b. April 23, 1977


Sebhrenah “Bhrenah” Wesson, 25 (daughter) VICTIM—b. April 5, 1978


Stefan Wesson, stillborn (son)—b. May 11, 1979


Almae Wesson, 31 (son)—b. May 23, 1980


Donovan Wesson, died at six months (son)—b. October 11, 1981


Marcus Wesson Jr., 28 (son)—b. December 2, 1982


Gypsy Wesson, 27 (daughter)—b. December 28, 1983


Serafino “Fino” Wesson, 26 (son)—b. February 12, 1985


Elizabeth “Lise” Wesson, 17 (daughter) VICTIM—b. March 28, 1986


Sofina “Sofia” Solorio, 35 (niece)—b. October 24, 1975


Ruby Ortiz, 33 (niece)—b. November 7, 1977


Brandy Sanchez, 31 (niece)—b. November 15, 1979


Rosa “Rosie” Solorio, 29 (niece)—b. October 21, 1981


Illabelle Wesson, 8 (daughter with Kiani/granddaughter) VICTIM—b. September 16, 1995


Jonathan Wesson, 7 (son with niece Sofia) VICTIM—b. March 14, 1996


Aviv Wesson, 7 (daughter with niece Ruby) VICTIM—b. June 16, 1996


Ethan Wesson, 4 (son with niece Rosie) VICTIM—b. July 15, 1999


Marshey Wesson, 19 months (son with Sebhrenah/grandson) VICTIM—b. August 8, 2002


Sedona Wesson, 18 months (daughter with niece Rosie) VICTIM—b. September 9, 2002


Jeva Wesson, 13 months (daughter with Kiani/granddaughter) VICTIM—b. February 22, 2003





Prologue



I’d really gone all out to make my first Christmas celebration with the Wessons perfect, but things weren’t going as planned. The angel in her purple dress kept toppling off the tree, and our names had dribbled down the five stockings because we’d hung them before the glitter glue was dry. On top of that, the four-foot artificial tree that was supposed to light up and change colors every ten seconds had gone completely dark on one side.


And that wasn’t all. Every year since I’d become a TV reporter, I’d worked on Christmas Eve, and this one was no different. As usual, I couldn’t find a decent meal anywhere; this time my dinner had consisted of a convenience store hot dog that looked like it had been sitting under the warming lamp for weeks. Needless to say, I kept everyone in my apartment awake throwing up that night.


My stomach trauma had subsided by seven o’clock on Christmas morning, so I snuck into the living room to lay out the gifts I’d carefully chosen for Elizabeth, her niece Rosie, and her daughters Kiani and Gypsy. My parents had sent some soft, fluffy blankets from Michigan, and I had bought a bunch of bath gel, candles, makeup, and other stocking stuffers. I couldn’t wait to surprise the girls on their first Christmas without the patriarch who had never allowed them to celebrate the holiday with presents, decorations, or Santa Claus.


After I finished, I collapsed onto my couch, looking forward to watching their reactions when they came out of their bedroom.


Elizabeth emerged first, and for a moment her face was all lit up with the enthusiastic response I’d hoped for. But her gleeful expression soon faded. I knew she was thinking about the nine other children who would never be able to join the rest of the family on this or any other holiday.


I’d really wanted to get the girls’ minds off the terrible loss they’d lived through earlier that year, even if it was just for a few hours; Elizabeth had assured me that this would be a happy day for all of us.


I should’ve known this was a promise she couldn’t keep. I didn’t think it was possible, but she looked even more down than usual.


“The kids would have loved this,” she said, her voice cracking as she looked mournfully at the five stockings.


It wasn’t just the kids, though. Elizabeth missed her husband, Marcus, and although they’d never admit it to me, I was sure Rosie and Kiani missed him, too. I knew them well enough by now to know.


“No crying,” I said sympathetically, but firmly, to Elizabeth. “You promised.”


“I know, Alysia, I’m sorry.”


Rosie and Kiani wandered in next, their eyes practically popping out of their heads when they saw the presents stacked under the tree.


“These are for us?” Kiani asked in disbelief.


“Yes,” I said, smiling. “Santa Claus came last night. We have to wait for Gypsy to get here before we can open them, though. Where is she, anyway?”


Like me, Gypsy liked to sleep in, so she was running late that morning. As Elizabeth called her daughter to hurry her along, I went into their bedroom to get Cosmo, my pet ferret. Although I used to think it was cruel to dress animals in costumes, I could have sworn Cosmo liked it when I bought him a new outfit. I dressed him in his tiny Santa suit and hat, then let the little critter run out to greet the Wessons.


Just then, Gypsy walked in.


“What in the world?” she asked, laughing at Cosmo’s festive costume.


“Merry Christmas,” I said, trying to hug her around the armful of gifts and the book of baby names she was carrying.


“I heard you were sick,” Gypsy said.


“Let’s not talk about it,” I said, hoping to avoid another trip to the bathroom. “Let’s start opening!”


I doled out the presents and watched as they cautiously peeled away the wrapping paper.


“Don’t worry about ripping it, you guys,” I said. “Tearing them open is half the fun.”


Half an hour later, we had filled two garbage bags with shredded paper and scrunched boxes. Still glowing from receiving the gifts that surrounded them, the girls slipped off their usual high heels and replaced them with their new fuzzy slippers. I could tell how much Elizabeth loved the vanilla-scented perfume I got her because she kept spraying her arm and sniffing it. Marcus had never given her frivolous luxury items like that, nor had he allowed the kids to have any toys. The few times Elizabeth’s family had given them toys at Christmas, Marcus had thrown them away.


Kiani, Rosie, and Gypsy went into the kitchen to start cooking the Christmas meal, while I stayed slumped on the couch. As much as I loved ham, mashed potatoes, and green beans, my stomach was in no condition to accept anything resembling food. Gypsy slathered the ham with honey glaze and stuck it in the oven with the rolls; Rosie strained the pot of potatoes she’d boiled.


As a single, twenty-eight-year-old workaholic, I wasn’t very domestic and lacked many of the utensils necessary to cook a big feast—including a potato masher—so Rosie tried to use a fork to mash the potatoes. Realizing she hadn’t cooked them long enough, she decided to finish the job in the blender.


“That’s not going to work,”


Gypsy said, shaking her head. Gypsy was right. When Rosie hit the button, the blender made a horrible noise, like a garbage disposal with a metal spoon stuck in it.


I chuckled to myself as I watched the drama unfold.


Growing up, Rosie and her family had been taught to make broken things work and to prepare meals with whatever food items they could afford, so she tried to fix the blender. But it was no use. I watched a cloud of smoke drift into the living room, bringing the odor of burned rubber along with it.


“I told you,” Gypsy said, shaking her head again.


“I’m sorry,” Rosie called out to me, turning red with embarrassment. I wasn’t mad at her. I knew she’d been punished enough in her life already, and besides, I was more amused at the situation.


“It’s okay. Open the window, please, before I get sick again,” I replied.


Elizabeth jumped up and opened the front door, while an unattended Cosmo jumped into the trash bags and dragged out the boxes until they were all over the floor again.


In the midst of the commotion, the smoke alarm went off. This time it was the rolls that had burned. With each excruciatingly annoying beep, my headache got worse.


“This is more like it,” I yelled, covering my ears and smiling at the stunned group. “Now you know what Christmas is like in most people’s homes.”


When dinner was finally served, the girls sat around the circular table, talking between bites of the salvaged meal; I contributed to the conversation from the couch. I could tell they were all happy to be together, but I could see on Rosie’s and Kiani’s faces that they couldn’t shake the guilt over eating a holiday meal while Marcus was behind bars.


Gypsy didn’t say much either, but I figured she was still feeling guilty about leaving her sister Lise and her other siblings behind when she ran away from home a year and a half earlier. She was also most likely reveling in the fact that their father was where he belonged. And Elizabeth, well, she was doing what she always did: trying unsuccessfully to hide her grief.


The girls had a long-standing coping mechanism of focusing on the brighter side of their lives, even when it seemed like there was little brightness to see.


Twenty-three-year-old Rosie bragged to the other girls that she had recently gotten her driver’s license, although she admitted she was still scared to drive on the freeway.


“I’m so jealous,” said Kiani, who was four years older and still couldn’t drive.


Gypsy, who would turn twenty-one in three days, was jealous, too. She gazed at me with an unspoken plea.


“Don’t look at me,” I said, laughing. “Teaching Rosie to drive was scary enough for a lifetime.”


Rosie sighed melodramatically, so I assured her I was only kidding.


“You should learn how to drive before the baby is born, though,” I said to Gypsy, who was six months pregnant.


Gypsy’s goals for the new year were to get a license, to earn a high school diploma, and to come up with a name for her baby girl, who was due in March. She opened up the book she’d brought and thumbed through it silently until Kiani took over and threw out a few suggestions.


Rosie was the only one who liked the name Emma.


“Taylor is good,” Kiani said, looking around at us. When no one responded, she went on. “Okay, you don’t like it. What about Arianna?”


“That’s so cute,” Gypsy said, smiling, and everyone agreed.


Whatever her name turned out to be, I knew this was going to be a very special little girl. She would be the first child in the Wesson family not to be named by Marcus. The first child who would grow up free from his abuse. And, more important, the first child not to be fathered by him.





One



Elizabeth knew something was wrong that Friday afternoon. There was tension in the air.


Yvette kept shooting her furtive glances while whispering into the cordless phone at Ruby’s apartment. Elizabeth didn’t know who her nephew’s girlfriend was talking to, but it felt like she was the topic of conversation. She wanted to go home.


“I need to leave now,” she said, walking toward Yvette on her way to the front door.


“Wait,” Yvette called out. “Here, talk to her,” she said, shoving the phone at Elizabeth.


“Hello?” she said in her soft, childlike voice.


“Aunt Lise, it’s Mary.”


“Oh,” Elizabeth said cautiously. “What’s wrong?”


Mary, the girlfriend of a different nephew, sounded anxious and jumpy, immediately confirming Elizabeth’s suspicion that something was going on. Nonetheless, she wasn’t prepared for Mary’s answer.


“We’re all at your house,” Mary said. “The girls came back to get their kids.”


Mary was referring to Elizabeth’s nieces Ruby and Sofia, who had lived with the Wesson family but had left their two children behind several years ago, when Ruby ran away and Marcus kicked Sofia out of the house. A dozen nieces, nephews, cousins, and friends had gathered at Ruby’s just an hour ago. What were they doing at Elizabeth’s?


“They are talking to Marcus right now and—”


“What?” Elizabeth interrupted.


Sofia and Ruby had said they were going to the store to buy food for a barbecue, but it was clear now that they’d left Yvette behind to keep watch over Elizabeth while they snuck off to try to take their seven-year-olds, Jonathan and Aviv, away from Marcus.


“It’s okay,” Mary said, trying to reassure her. “Now you can get away from Marcus, too. You’ll be safe now.”


But Elizabeth knew that no one would be safe, not with the whole group of them going toe-to-toe with Marcus.


“What have you done?” Elizabeth said, dropping the cordless phone to the floor and frantically searching through her purse for her keys. “Oh my God, no!”


In her own way, Elizabeth had spent most of her life trying to protect her children from her husband. Although she’d always accepted his claim that the beatings he regularly dealt out were necessary discipline, she tried to intervene when he went too far, begging him to stop before he killed them. Marcus wouldn’t hand the children over to their mothers without a fight. She was the only one who could reason with him. God only knew what he would do without her there.


Elizabeth ran out of the apartment. Her ears were ringing, and she could hear her blood pulsing as her heart pounded. In the parking lot, she finally got ahold of her keys and yanked them out of her purse, scattering tubes of lipstick and loose receipts onto the asphalt. Her hands were so shaky and slippery with sweat, she could barely get the key into her car door.


How could Ruby and Sofia do this? Please, God, let me get home in time.


Marcus hadn’t allowed Elizabeth to get her license until she was thirty-one and he was in jail for welfare fraud, so she’d gotten into the driver’s seat later than most. She had never speeded before; in fact, she habitually drove so slowly that motorists glared at her as they passed by.


But this was different. This was about saving the babies.


Never even glancing at the speedometer, she flew home on surface streets, blowing through several red lights. Ruby’s place was only a few miles away, but the trip seemed to take forever.


She made a sharp left turn onto Hammond Avenue, where she could already see about twenty people gathered in front of her house on the corner. She gasped when she saw two patrol cars parked across the street. It was even worse than she’d thought.


The tires of her Toyota Echo squealed as she made another sharp turn into the driveway, pulling in next to the yellow school bus Marcus had retrofitted to drive their enormous family around.


When she’d left the house, two hours earlier, everything had seemed so normal. Marcus, Kiani, Sebhrenah, and Rosie had been repairing the bus and packing it up for a trip to Seattle, while seventeen-year-old Lise was inside home-schooling the seven little ones.


Their roughly one-thousand-square-foot house had formerly been occupied by a law firm, so it was zoned for commercial use in the middle of an otherwise residential, working-class neighborhood, and their driveway was actually a small parking lot in front of the building. The city had left repeated notices on the door about the Wessons’ zoning violations, so Marcus had decided it was time to relocate the clan once again.


Elizabeth looked more closely at the group clustered in the front yard and realized there weren’t any children.


Where are my babies?


The car was still rolling when she shoved the gearshift into park. Her hands shook as she turned off the ignition, the keys rattling against the steering column. She didn’t take time to remove them before she pushed the door open and jumped out.


As she ran to the house, she could see the imposing bulk of Marcus’s three-hundred-pound body blocking the doorway. Two of her children, Kiani and Serafino, were standing just behind him with Rosie, her sister Rosemary’s daughter. Marcus had trained his sons, daughters, and nieces to be soldiers, warning them that this day would come.


Elizabeth ran over to Marcus to ask what was going on, but he spoke before she could get a word out.


“I need the keys, Bee,” he told her calmly, using the pet name he’d given her when she was eight and he was twenty-one. His use of the endearment now struck her as odd, given the circumstances.


“Where are the keys?” he pressed. “I need the keys right now.”


Elizabeth knew it was a bad sign when Marcus was calm in a stressful situation. But after having done his bidding for nearly four decades, she felt she was in no position to stand up to him. She ran back to the car to retrieve the keys and, clutching them against her chest, obediently delivered them.


Afterward, she wondered why he would need her car keys and why the house was so quiet inside, but she didn’t dare ask. She didn’t think anything bad had happened—at least not yet.


Rosie, Kiani, and Serafino stood tall behind Marcus, their shoulders back, on alert and at attention, their expressions stern.


A uniformed police officer stood silently off to the side of the house, a few feet away. There were two more officers across the street.


Elizabeth knew her whole family was in danger. The police presence only made the situation more volatile. Marcus had always said one day they would go to war with the government or Child Protective Services (CPS), but this was as close as they’d ever come.


Marcus remained calm while he made his case for keeping custody of his children. He’d been fooling the police and the social workers for years with that calm exterior of his, but Elizabeth knew what he was truly capable of. She knew the situation could blow up like a powder keg with just the slightest spark of provocation.


Elizabeth burned with anger. She wanted to yell at someone. She knew she couldn’t scream at Marcus, so she decided to confront Ruby and Sofia. She wanted answers, and she knew she wasn’t going to get them from her husband.


SOFIA AND RUBY had known that Marcus would put up resistance, but they were determined to keep their children from suffering any more of the abuse and incest that had been going on for years. So they brought along a posse of family and friends to surround Marcus while they grabbed Jonathan and Aviv.


But things didn’t go as they’d hoped.


For the first fifteen minutes, the family members argued and called one another names inside and outside the one-story house as Sofia and Ruby demanded that Marcus give up the two children he’d fathered with them.


“I’m not leaving without my baby,” Ruby declared.


When Marcus accused the mothers of trying to kidnap the children, Kiani jumped to her father’s defense.


“You have no rights to these children. You are surrogate mothers,” she said. Marcus had told his daughters and nieces that they should bear his children for the Lord because Elizabeth could no longer do so.


Marcus told Ruby and Sofia that they could come back and visit the children if they agreed to leave the house peacefully, but they knew the family was moving out of town, so they didn’t believe him. If Marcus took the family away, the two women might never see their son and daughter again.


Around 2:15 P.M., about forty-five minutes after their arrival, Sofia was in the living room talking to Marcus when he whispered something to Rosie, Kiani, and Sebhrenah. Sofia grabbed her son’s hand but started to panic when Rosie took him from her and walked him into the back bedroom, where the older girls had gathered the other children.


Sofia recalled the suicide pact that Marcus had made with them when they were growing up. If the police or CPS tried to bust up their family, the children had been given a plan “to go to the Lord.” The plan changed over time, but essentially the older ones were to shoot their younger brothers and sisters, then turn the gun on themselves. Sofia had almost carried out the plan herself years before, when the family was living on a boat in Tomales Bay. She had loaded twelve bullets into a gun, but Marcus had stopped her just in time.


Sofia and Ruby hadn’t planned to call the police today because they knew Marcus still kept that gun in the house; they didn’t want to risk anyone getting hurt. But as soon as it became clear they needed outside intervention, Sofia desperately called out for someone in their group to get the police.


Mary called 911 and reported the incident as a domestic dispute. When the police didn’t show up, she called again and again, trying to convey to the dispatch operator that this was no ordinary custody dispute; this was a matter of life and death.


IN FACT, THE police didn’t seem to be taking it seriously. After about five of Mary’s calls, the California Highway Patrol dispatcher transferred her to the Fresno Police Department, but not before warning the police dispatcher that Mary might be overreacting.


“We have transferred these out-of-control people on 761 West Hammond I don’t know how many times,” the CHP dispatcher said to the police counterpart.


“Mm-hmm,” the police dispatcher said.


“And every time we transfer them, their story gets more embellished.”


The police dispatcher laughed.


“Now they have guns,” the CHP dispatcher said.


“Okay.”


“It’s a civil thing, supposedly, and now, I’m not sure if it’s true or not, but I think it’s embellished. But I’ll let you try … Talk to her.”


The police dispatcher sighed and said, “Okay,” before the CHP transferred Mary over.


“I believe one of the guys in the house has a gun,” Mary said.


“Why do you believe that?”


It was clear that the police dispatcher did not believe Mary knew what she was talking about, despite her increasingly urgent pleas for help.


At the end of the conversation, the dispatcher said, “Nobody’s hurt or anything like that, right?”


“Not yet,” Mary said, her voice shaky.


THE FIRST OFFICERS on the scene arrived around 2:30. Marcus stood in the doorway to block them from entering, explaining that he was the children’s biological father. The officers sensed trouble and called for backup.


At first, Ruby and Sofia thought they had the upper hand. They presented the officers with birth certificates for Jonathan and Aviv, and the officers told Marcus he had to give the children back to their mothers or they would call CPS.


“A mom’s a mom, and that’s the way it stands,” said Officer Frank Nelson.


But apparently this only fueled Marcus’s need to prove he still controlled the situation. He tried to convince the officers that the women had abandoned their children, leaving them in his care. “They never had the children in their lives,” he said.


The police weren’t buying it.


“A handshake,” Nelson retorted, dismissing the informal agreement. “That doesn’t cut it.”


Marcus must have known that the mothers were winning the dispute. As Ruby and Sofia continued to press their claim with the officers, he managed to slip away from his post, darting into the back bedroom around 3:30. No one saw him go, and by the time they noticed, it was too late.


ELIZABETH, WHO HAD been arguing with Sofia and Ruby, glanced over at the doorway and noticed that no one was there. No Marcus, no girls, no police.


Where did everyone go?


She walked slowly toward the front door, fully expecting an officer to stop her. Surprisingly, no one did, so she walked right into her home. At first, nothing looked out of place, but something definitely felt wrong. The house seemed eerie at the best of times, but the family was used to Marcus’s unique taste in design: the rooms were crammed with heavy, ornate antiques, battlefield relics, and even coffins, on top of which some of the children slept. The home felt like a mausoleum now more than ever.


Before Elizabeth made her way to the rear of the house, she stopped in the kitchen for some water. Her mouth was unbearably dry, and she couldn’t swallow. She gulped down a cupful with the faucet still running. Her hands were shaking so much, water spilled over the sides of the cup and into the sink. When she turned off the tap, she was startled by the silence.


I’ve never heard it so quiet in here. Oh, God, where are the babies?


Elizabeth began praying out loud. “O Lord, please help us!”


The seven little ones were often quiet, but not this quiet. As she headed for the door, she vowed that, if they were still safe, she would try to get them away from Marcus once and for all.


Someone had dragged one of the antique tables in front of the bedroom door. This wasn’t a good sign. Elizabeth was still praying aloud when she pulled the table away from the door, just enough to let her squeeze by. She offered up a final prayer to God, cracked open the door, and warily peeked inside.


She couldn’t see much of the dimly lit room, but what she could see stopped her cold: Marcus was kneeling on the forest green carpet, his head down as if he were praying, with one arm wrapped around their daughter Lise, his hand resting on the small of her back.


Lise stood facing Elizabeth, staring straight ahead, her eyes swollen with tears that were running down her face. The seventeen-year-old didn’t call out or ask for help; it was as if she was passively accepting her fate, whatever that may be.


Marcus suddenly realized that his wife was in the doorway.


“Bee?” he said, as if she’d caught him doing something wrong. “Bee, come here.”


To this day, Elizabeth doesn’t know why, but she turned and ran as fast as she could. She was screaming and crying as she ran past the kitchen, out the front door, past the group of women, and past the school bus, down the long driveway, where she finally collapsed.


Witnessing Elizabeth’s terror, all the family members outside thought the worst and started yelling.


But it turned out there was more to come. Marcus barricaded himself inside the bedroom, apparently backing a dresser or a coffin against the door.


“Nooooo,” one of the women wailed as they realized he was in there with the kids.


“I told you, I told you!” another one said.


“Oh my God,” Ruby and Sofia cried to police from behind a length of yellow crime scene tape. “You need to get him out of the room right now. He will kill them. He has a gun!”


If the officers had understood that this was no exaggeration, surely they would have known they had the necessary probable cause to break down the door. But they had already called the city attorney, who told them they didn’t have enough information—or the right—to go inside.


“You guys don’t care,” Sofia said, sobbing.


THE POLICE CALLED for backup once Marcus had retreated inside. Seeing that the family dispute had escalated into a hostage situation, police officials agreed this was now a job for the SWAT team. The call went out at 3:46.


Officers spread out around the house, with at least one posted at the window of the back bedroom, trying to see what was going on inside. But Marcus had drawn the blinds, so all the officer could see was a pair of thick dark fingers pulling down one of the slats to peek out. The police yelled through the open front door for Marcus to come out but got no response.


Outside, the women felt powerless. With each passing minute, Ruby and Sofia knew the situation was growing more dire. They hoped and prayed that they were wrong about what was going on in that back bedroom.


The standoff lasted a little more than an hour while the SWAT team suited up and headed to the house. After they arrived, the officers rushed in, guns drawn.


About two minutes later, Marcus emerged from the back bedroom, his dark T-shirt wet with fresh blood, and allowed officers to escort him out without a struggle.


Although the entire family was still screaming in the front yard, Marcus remained uncannily calm as the officers handcuffed him. Saying nothing about what had just happened, he asked the police not to hurt him with the cuffs. Apparently, the chain connecting his two massive wrists was too short. The officers obliged and used two sets as they arrested him on suspicion of homicide.


MEANWHILE, ANOTHER SET of officers went inside to rescue the children from the back bedroom.


“Kids, kids, we’re here to help you,” one of them yelled as they made their way down the dark hallway. “You can come out now.”


Officer Eloy Escareno shone his flashlight into the bedroom. With the blinds still drawn, it took a minute for his eyes to adjust to the darkness.


He looked down and saw what he thought was a pile of blankets. When a fellow officer reached in and turned on the light, Escareno got a full view of the horror he would never forget: a pile of bloody children, their bodies entangled with clothing. They spilled from the corner of the room toward the middle, sandwiched between a coffin and a dresser. Escareno dropped his shotgun and got down to check the bodies for signs of life. But it was too late. Although the bodies were still warm to the touch, none of them was breathing or had a pulse.


The former army medic broke down and cried.


OUTSIDE, ELIZABETH AND the rest of the Wesson family stood behind the yellow tape, fearing the worst but holding their breath for good news, not knowing who was alive and who was dead.


At 4:57 P.M., the paramedics arrived, and they entered the house two minutes later. When they came out, they confirmed Officer Escareno’s findings. All of the children inside were dead.


Police, however, instructed them not to move the bodies. That was the coroner’s job.


As word spread around the yard, the hopeful silence was overtaken by weeping and hysteria. Ruby fainted, and paramedics had to put her on a stretcher. Elizabeth was so upset she couldn’t breathe and had to be hooked up to an oxygen tank.


“My babies,” she kept saying. “They’re gone.”


ADRIAN WESSON HAD known this day was coming, ever since Marcus had abandoned him and his brother Dorian in the Santa Cruz Mountains six and a half years earlier.


The two oldest boys knew from the secret coffee dates they had periodically with Elizabeth that their father had been spiraling further out of control since they left. But they’d been taught to ignore his increasingly delusional and abusive behavior.


Over the years, whenever Adrian saw the Fresno area code, 559, on his cell phone’s caller ID, he wondered if someone was going to tell him that Marcus had finally snapped. That afternoon, he got the call he’d been dreading.


“Adrian!” Serafino exclaimed between sobs. “Adrian!”


“Fino? What happened?” Adrian asked, panicked by the terror in his brother’s voice.


“Get down here!” Serafino cried. “Just get down here.” At that moment, Adrian knew in his bones what had happened, but he asked anyway. “What did he do?” he yelled. “Did he kill them?”


Adrian thought he had prepared himself for this call, but he was sadly mistaken. Nothing could have prepared him for the real thing.


“Did he kill them, Fino?” he asked again. Somehow, he needed to hear his brother say it out loud before he’d accept it as truth. “He killed them, didn’t he?”


But Serafino wouldn’t—or couldn’t—answer.


Instead, he told Adrian to get on the road. The 150-mile journey from his home in Santa Cruz would take him almost three hours, maybe longer given the rush-hour traffic. They would be three of the longest hours of his life.


As soon as Adrian hung up, he started gasping for air. It felt as if someone had punched him in the stomach. And just when he thought he could start walking to his car, someone punched him again. He inhaled deeply, pursed his quivering lips, and slowly exhaled until he felt like he could drive safely.


There was one call he needed to make before picking up Dorian and rushing to Fresno. He had a feeling that his father had killed at least one of his brothers or sisters, but he wanted specifics. He dialed the number for the prepaid cell phone Elizabeth usually carried.


She didn’t have to say hello for him to recognize the sound of her crying.


“Mom?” Adrian asked. “Is that you?”


Elizabeth was wailing, but she managed to muster some type of affirmation.


“Did that motherfucker finally do it, Mom?” Adrian screamed.


Adrian was usually the picture of politeness—he didn’t swear, rarely raised his voice, and had spoken out against Marcus only once before. But that day, he thought nothing of committing all three offenses simultaneously.


Adrian could hear the frenzied voices of police officers in the background, telling everyone to step away from the house.


“Mom?” he yelled.


“What?” Elizabeth finally answered, trying to be heard over the chaos.


“Did that motherfucker kill everyone?” Adrian asked again.


“Don’t talk like that,” she said defensively. “You need to calm down and get here.”


His mother sounded too distracted to say anything more, so he hung up and drove to Dorian’s.


He pulled up and ran toward the front door looking pale and sweaty, his eyes spilling over with tears.


“I think he finally did it,” he said. “We need to get to Fresno.”


Dorian dropped his head. He followed Adrian to the car and got in without a word.


* * *


ADRIAN WEAVED IN and out among the cars creeping south along the narrow coastal freeway. The brothers usually listened to loud house and trance music during road trips, but that day, the radio was off.


Dorian dealt with the stress by sitting silently, while Adrian spewed out rhetorical questions.


“How can he think he’ll get away with this?” he asked. “Who does he think he is? Why now?”


After he’d vented for a while, Adrian’s thoughts turned to a chilling conversation he’d had with his sister Sebhrenah two months earlier. He’d been silent on the topic of their father for years, but he couldn’t bite his tongue any longer. He had to make Sebhrenah see that she could go further in life if she broke away from Marcus’s manipulative clutches.


“Sebhrenah, what Dad is doing with you guys is wrong,” he told her. “He’s controlling you and not letting you amount to anything. You need to get out of the house.”


He would always remember her robotic response: “Adrian, I don’t want to be like everyone else out there,” she said. “I am doing this by choice. It is what I really want to do and you need to accept it.”


She sounded as if she were repeating a speech Marcus had dictated to her; Adrian was frustrated that he couldn’t get through to her. This was the first real conversation he’d ever had with Sebhrenah, who, at twenty-five, was two and a half years his junior. Marcus had forbidden him and his brothers to talk to their sisters and female cousins, fearing they would develop sexual feelings for one another. After Adrian hung up the phone with her that day, he couldn’t shake the feeling that Sebhrenah was on her way to a very bleak place.


Adrian had left the traffic far behind by now. He looked down at his speedometer and realized he was going a hundred miles an hour, but he didn’t slow down. He desperately wanted some idea of what he was going to find once they arrived in Fresno, so he called Serafino for an update.


It was hard to hear anything over the commotion at the house, so he hung up and dialed every number in his cell phone until he could find someone to give him some answers. He was finally able to reach Marcus Jr.’s friend Michael, who was standing in the front yard, but even he was able to give Adrian only one- or two-sentence news bites before he’d hang up again.


“Your dad is barricaded inside and we don’t know who’s in there with him,” Michael said.


The mini-briefings did little to comfort Adrian and Dorian, especially when the news seemed to be getting worse.


Finally, after dozens of these calls, Adrian heard what he’d been dreading all along.


“Your dad just came and surrendered to police, Adrian,” Michael said somberly. “I think it’s over.”


“Okay, who else is coming out of the house?” Adrian asked. “Where is everyone else? Are the kids following behind Dad?”


“It’s just him, Adrian. It’s just your dad.”


“Are you sure they’re not coming out?”


“I don’t see them.”


“The kids aren’t coming out, are they?” Adrian cried. Turning toward Dorian, he repeated, “The kids aren’t coming out.”


Adrian felt his mind slowly close down and his hands and feet grow numb. It took every ounce of emotional strength he possessed not to pass out. He had to talk himself into staying conscious so he wouldn’t lose control of his speeding car.


DEPUTY CORONERS JOSEPH Tiger and Kelly Wiefel got called to the Wesson house around 6:00—an hour after they’d finished working a ten-hour shift.


Earlier, police had blocked off half the neighborhood, but as soon as they opened the roads, the area became a swarm of people surrounded by the mess of TV satellite trucks that had arrived earlier.


Police chaplains were comforting family members, reporters were interviewing neighbors and new relatives as they arrived, and paramedics were treating those overcome by the trauma.


In the midst of all the hoopla, the Wessons’ dog, a black Chihuahua mix named Betty, ran out the front door and raced down the street. Rosie loved that dog like a child, but her escape was the least of the family’s problems that day.


ADRIAN AND DORIAN pulled up to their family’s home around 7:30 P.M., two hours after the police had hauled Marcus away.


Adrian lifted the yellow tape so he could run toward his family; no one tried to stop him. He reached the group of women and wrapped his arms around them. Then, he took inventory of the faces.


Elizabeth, Rosie, Rosemary. Wait a minute, where’s Kiani? Where’s Sebhrenah? Where’s Lise?


Adrian prayed they were standing somewhere else. He breathed a sigh of relief when he saw Kiani in the back of a police car.


Thank God, she’s alive.


He ran toward the car to greet her. This time, an officer grabbed his shoulder to restrain him.


“Who are you?” the cop asked.


“I’m Adrian Wesson. That’s my sister back there.”


Kiani stared out the window at her brother, her eyes red and glassy. She looked so lost.


Adrian searched around for the other girls but had a sinking feeling he wasn’t going to find them. He stopped searching when he heard Ruby and Sofia’s side of the family behind him, saying that, by process of elimination, there must be nine victims.


That meant Sebhrenah and Lise were dead, too.


How could Dad do this?


After that, the night was one long wait. He watched the police load his mother and sisters into two police cars, which he and Dorian followed to the police station. The boys sat outside numbly for more than five hours, hoping the police would finish questioning the women and release them.


Around 1:00 A.M., the brothers gave up and found a motel.


THE POLICE WERE finally able to get a search warrant allowing a small team of investigators to take a preliminary walk through the house at 8:30 P.M.


Forty-five minutes later, several police detectives, two CSI technicians, and four members of the coroner’s office entered the three-bedroom house and walked single file past the three cannons and the half dozen or more Indonesian mahogany coffins that were stacked in the living room and on to the back bedroom. They wondered what the hell these people were doing with so many coffins—twelve in all.


The air was warm that night—77 degrees inside the house. But it seemed even hotter with all those people crammed into the back bedroom. And the smell was sickening. It was going to be a long, grueling night.


Tiger and Wiefel were used to processing crime scenes and examining dead bodies. But they’d never seen anything like this. A pile of dead children. Babies.


The brunt of it didn’t really hit them until they started to pull the bodies off the pile, one at a time, bagging them and moving them into the living room, where they could be examined further.


Sebhrenah was found facedown on top of the pile with a .22-caliber revolver under her right arm; presumably she’d been the last one to die. She was wearing a black and yellow flowered dress, zippered brown boots, and on her right hand two rings, one of which was a wedding band. A hunting knife lay on the floor nearby.


At the time, investigators didn’t know the names of any of the victims. They all had black hair, and their faces looked so much alike. So, for the time being, they were identified simply as Jane Doe One or Baby Jane Doe Two, in the order they were pulled off the pile, which was assumed to be the reverse order in which they died.


As the investigators worked their way down, Lise was right under Sebhrenah, and under her, they discovered the bodies of three babies in diapers—tiny thirteen-month-old Jeva, still wearing a bib labeled “Princess”; eighteen-month-old Sedona; and nineteen-month-old Marshey.


As they picked up little Sedona, they noticed that her white Onesie had turned a deep red, saturated with not just her blood but that of her brothers and sisters as well.


Four-year-old Ethan was next, the only one who was shot twice—once in the right eye and once in the right side of his abdomen.


Then came eight-year-old Illabelle. On the very bottom of the pile—apparently the first ones to be shot—were Aviv and Jonathan, the daughter and son of the women who had initiated the confrontation with Marcus. That made a total of nine victims.


EXCEPT FOR SEBHRENAH’S son, Marshey, who was shot in the left eye, all the other victims were shot in the right eye or just below it.


The investigators put the bigger bodies into white bags and wheeled them out to the van, but the babies were too small for the standard-size bags. Instead, the investigators draped them in white sheets and walked them out, cradled in their arms, an image that played repeatedly across the TV news that night.


Suspecting a cult angle or a bizarre ceremonial ritual, investigators initially wondered if the victims had been drugged, like the thirty-nine members of the Heaven’s Gate cult who had committed suicide by eating applesauce laced with phenobarbital and vodka. But when the toxicology tests came back, the Wesson family members were found to be drug- and alcohol-free. Nothing had dulled their senses during their final terrifying moments.


Rigor mortis had already started to set in by the time investigators began the examinations. After taking Sebhrenah’s liver temperature, they determined the approximate time of her death was 5:00 P.M.—two and a half hours after the police responded to the initial 911 call. The pathologist would later determine that the seven younger children were killed between 3:00 and 4:00 P.M., some possibly while Marcus was standing at the front door talking to police.


Marcus was the only one alive who knew what really happened in the back bedroom that afternoon, but his offspring—and everyone else—would speculate about this tragedy for years. Although neighbors and some family members would claim they heard one to three shots fired between 2:30 and 3:30 P.M., Fresno police insisted they never heard a single gunshot.


Elizabeth lost two of her own daughters, Sebhrenah and Lise, in the massacre, but she carried the heaviest burden of grief and guilt of all the Wesson women. Even though she had given birth to only two of the children, she felt as if she had been a mother to all nine. And she had been unable to stop the massacre.





Two



I was frantically typing to meet my noon deadline on March 12, 2004, when I saw that one of the other TV stations had scooped me on a story. They’d learned that the city councilman who had driven his car over a curb on election night had registered a blood alcohol level more than twice the legal limit. I’d been making calls all morning trying to get those test results.


A police lieutenant called to apologize a couple of hours after I left him a frustrated message. “Sorry about the miscommunication, Alysia,” he said.


“You really owe me one,” I countered, playing the guilt card to the hilt. “Give me the scoop about something else to make up for it.”


“Well, I’m sending a SWAT team over to a house near Roeding Park,” he said. “No one knows about that yet. Not even some of my officers.”


I looked at the big round clock over the radio booth and perked up. I still had about twenty minutes before my first radio report at 4:00 P.M. “What’s going on?”


“Sorry, looks like it’s just a domestic. Custody issue or something, but it may turn into more, you never know. Let me get that address. 7-6-1 West Hammond, in case you want to check it out.”


“A domestic?” I asked, disappointed. I settled back down a bit. I couldn’t sell that to my news director. “Got anything else going on?”


“Not at the moment,” he said, chuckling. “I promise you’ll be the first to know when something happens.”


I was doing double-duty at KMPH’s radio and TV stations for a couple of weeks, so I spent most of the day working on stories for six radio spots from 4:00 to 6:30 P.M., then a short one that would air on the TV news at 10:00 P.M.


The radio and TV stations were separated by a narrow parking lot, but the working environments couldn’t have been more different. Although the radio deadlines came more frequently, the mood was more relaxed. Fewer radio workers were packed into closer quarters, so no one had to raise his voice to be heard. Even the police scanner’s volume was set on low. It was a nice break.


Or so I thought.


For the third day in a row, I’d spent the day interviewing people at gas stations about skyrocketing prices at the pump. This time I was asking whether they had changed their driving habits. I was running out of new angles—and patience. What I really wanted was to dump the gas story and chase down something new.


“So,” I said, turning toward Adam,* my radio boss. “There’s a lot of SWAT action at a house in southwest Fresno. Sounds like a pretty big deal,” I embellished. “The lieutenant thinks it could be something.”


I asked if we should call over to the TV side to see if they wanted to send someone to the scene—I was supposed to stay in the radio newsroom until 7:00 P.M.—or if I should head over there myself. I’d found the story, so I wanted to cover it, but I knew he would probably tell me to stay put.


I was right. He had me call TV and let them find out if it was a story worth pursuing. I told the TV assignment editor that the SWAT call hadn’t hit the scanners yet, so we would have a head start on the other news outlets.


“I’ll send someone right away,” she told me. “We’ll call you back and let you know what it is.”


I started editing my gas story for my first two radio reports, hoping that I could use the SWAT story for my third hit. I walked across the parking lot to TV—as fast as my high heels would allow—to see if they’d heard anything yet, then I dashed back.


I made it into the booth just in time to pull the headset over my ears and yank the microphone toward my mouth, hoping it didn’t pick up my panting.


“Alysia Sofios joins us now with more on the rising prices at the pump and reaction from valley drivers,” the radio anchor said to introduce me, and off I went.


Shortly after my 5:00 P.M. report, the TV reporter called from the SWAT scene to say that the police chief was about to hold a news conference, and that he would go live afterward. A few minutes later, he called back with a breathless report that went something like this:


“What apparently began as a domestic dispute in this southwest Fresno neighborhood has turned into a massive crime scene. Officers have discovered the bodies of seven children inside a bedroom in a house on the seven-hundred block of Hammond Avenue. The SWAT team is still here, and Police Chief Jerry Dyer is expected to hold another news conference with more information any minute.”


Turned out it was something after all.


Temporarily numb with shock, I quietly exited the booth while the anchor was still on the air and headed for my desk. Before I had a chance to fully process the gravity of what I’d heard, my phone line lit up.


I answered it on the first ring. “KMPH Newsradio, this is—”


“Alysia,” my TV news director interrupted. “Get over here, now! We need—”


Max* hung up before he even finished his sentence, so I figured I’d better hop to it and get the hell over there. A Vietnam veteran and former national news reporter, Max could be pretty intimidating.


I ran across the parking lot and pulled open the heavy outer door that led into the newsroom. The temperature in there was always kept frigid so that the equipment functioned properly. But on this night, the wall of air that hit me seemed even colder than usual, sending goose bumps down my arms and legs.


Inside, nearly twenty people were swirling around, picking up phones and slamming them down. Arms were gesticulating wildly. The scanner was blaring. And the two anchors were shouting out orders to editors, reporters, and writers as everyone worked to throw together a series of newsbreaks that would cut into the regularly scheduled programming throughout the evening.


The square newsroom spanned two stories, with the executive producer’s and the news director’s glass offices upstairs and the rest of us downstairs. The two levels were connected by an open staircase covered with black rubber to prevent people from slipping while running up and down on deadline.


The on-air set was at one end of the room, where dozens of TV monitors sat on desks and hung from the walls and ceiling. The rest of the space was dedicated to edit bays and circular desks for the reporters and writers. Seen from above, the area was shaped like the Olympic logo, only the desks were separated by dividers like the spokes of a wheel. That meant everyone had several phones within reaching distance, a factor that was about to come in handy for me.


“What angle should I chase?” I yelled over the dull roar to no one in particular. No one responded.


As I listened to my producer talking with the anchors about the latest details of the story, I heard the words “incest,” “polygamy,” “occult,” “suicide pact,” and “vampires.” I couldn’t believe this crazy story was breaking in my town—and I was going to get to cover it.


Journalists live to work high-profile stories like these. It’s not that we don’t understand the seriousness of the event or are not sensitive to the victims’ plight. We do and we are. In fact, that’s what makes them such good stories. Everyone’s emotions run high at such times, so we know that viewers will be glued to their TV sets, hungry for more information. But at the same time, we have to remain objective and detached while we gather the most gruesome details. Making dark jokes often helps us keep our sanity. And this story was getting more intriguing by the minute.


I looked upstairs and saw Max glaring down at me from behind the stacks of videotapes and résumés that cluttered his desk. I could tell he was frustrated that I wasn’t doing anything yet.


I wished I could be at the scene, but with such a big story, everyone, including me, would get a piece of it. No one had given me a specific assignment; we were expected to wait for direction, which usually came after the editors and anchors finished discussing story strategy among themselves.


Max got halfway out of his chair and yelled at me through his open door. “Get on the phone with CNN and get some video of famous cult deaths, Alysia. And find out where they got those damn coffins!”


I immediately called CNN. Although we are a Fox station, we subscribe to a service that gives us quick access to CNN’s old news footage.


“Yeah, give me all the file video you have of David Koresh,” I said, running through a mental checklist as I watched my boss heading down the staircase with his eye fixed on me. He definitely had more orders but held off when he saw I was on the phone. “Ummmm, do you have any Jonestown video?”


“Hale-Bopp! Don’t forget those Hale-Bopp folks!” he barked at me as he stormed past. “The ones with the tennis shoes!”


The woman working the CNN archive desk must have heard my boss screaming. “I think we have that Heaven’s Gate shot with the shoes and the bunk beds,” she told me. “I’ll get it on a feed as soon as possible.”
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r decades, the family of Marcus Wesson—his wife,
lizabeth, and seventeen children—Tlived sequestered
a social and emotional prison, enduring his
tyrannical reign of physical, sexual, and mental abuse.
Then came the terrible day when a family confrontation
erupted into a harrowing standoff: with police and SWAT
teams descending on a small blue house in central Fresno,
Marcus Wesson murdered nine of his children.

Television reporter Alysia Sofios got the first tip about
Wesson’s arrest and was witness to every twist and turn
of the horrific case through to Wesson’s trial. Risking
her job and her life to offer friendship and support to
the traumatized family members—scarred by memories
and guilt, reviled for having the Wesson name—Sofios
chronicles the case that shocked the nation, and gives voice
to their astounding stories of survival. This is a stunning
account of healing from one man’s unimaginable acts, and
how each, in time, learned to break free from a deadly
devotion.
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